RECEIVED

May 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JASON DONN LEE,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001977

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by refusing to suppress Lee's electronic records which the police obtained from multiple providers with a search warrant that was invalid for lack of jurisdiction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County grand jury indicted appellant Jason Donn Lee for murder and first-degree burglary and on November 18, 2019, he was tried before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper and a jury. R. 1. S.R. “Rick” Hubbard, III, and D. Shawn Graham represented the State. R. 1. James R. Snell, Jr. and Vicki D. Koutsogiannis represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 953, l. 13 – 954, l. 6. Judge Cooper sentenced appellant to concurrent life sentences. R. 968, l. 13 – 18. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue on appeal is a question of law for the court, which is reviewed de novo. Univ. of S. California v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 275, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005); see also Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State of South Carolina, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007); Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n v. Somers, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by refusing to suppress Lee's electronic records which the police obtained from multiple providers with a search warrant that was invalid for lack of jurisdiction.

The evidence that appellant Jason Donn Lee killed his wife, Lindsey Lee ("Lee"), was entirely circumstantial. The motive suggested by the State—money—made little sense in the context of this crime. Finally, the State's best piece of evidence was entirely inconsistent with the crime scene and how this crime was committed.

Appellant and Lee were a month away from their divorce being final when Lee was found murdered in her home on March 14, 2017, in Lexington County. R. 327, l. 6 – 15. They married in September 2010 and separated in April 2016. R. 327, l. 6 – 15. Their divorce was reasonably amicable to the point where they were able to go see their accountant at the same time to have their taxes done. R. 616, l. 5 – 624, l. 23. The accountant remembered the meeting, which occurred on February 11, 2017, and was the last time appellant saw Lee. R. 616, l. 5 – 624, l. 23. The accountant described appellant as unhappy to be there and that Lee was getting their full tax refund, but nothing about the encounter suggested it was unusual for a couple near the end of a divorce. R. 616, l. 5 – 624, l. 23.

The State's theory of motive was that appellant owed Lee money when the divorce was final and was having financial problems. R. 982, l. 22 – 893, l. 24. The amount of money was approximately \$7,800. R. 315, l. 8 – 20. However, appellant had a good job as a locksmith with the ability earn even more money by taking additional overtime shifts. R. 306, l. 22 – 307, l. 12. The locksmith company where appellant worked furnished him with a cell phone and a van. R. 285, l. 20 – 23. R. 289, l. 3 – 7. Appellant moved from Lexington County, where Lee lived, to

Greenville, to be near his son from a prior marriage. R. 183, l. 12 – 22. Appellant had a good relationship with his ex-wife and with his son. R. 384, l. 12 – 385, l. 23.

Lee worked in the IT department for the Lexington County Sheriff's Office. R. 157, l. 16 – 158, l. 22. When Lee did not show up for work or respond to calls and texts on the morning of March 14, a co-worker asked a deputy to go to her house to check on her. R. 170, l. 1 – 171, l. 6. The deputy found the back door breached and called for backup. R. 187, l. 17 – 188, l. 25. When the other deputy arrived, they entered the house and found Lee dead in the bathtub with her throat slashed. R. 189, l. 1 – 191, l. 6.

The killer attempted to sanitize the crime scene. Lee's body was left in the bathtub with the water running to clean her body of trace evidence. R. 190, l. 11 – 22. Her top had been removed and put into the washing machine. R. 214, l. 14 – 17. The DVR for security cameras was removed. R. 234, l. 19 – 235, l. 7. Her fingernails had been cut below the quick. R. 687, l. 8 – 24. The police did not find any usable fingerprints that were relevant.

Despite the killer having taken all of these precautions, three pieces of blue latex glove were found on the floor. R. 213, l. 8 – 23. The crime scene officer candidly agreed that the pieces of latex "were conspicuous and plainly apparent." R. 240, l. 3 – 241, l. 7. The State's best piece of evidence against appellant was the testimony of the SLED expert who said appellant's DNA was on the conspicuously placed pieces of latex glove. R. 513, l. 15 – 515, l. 4. Importantly, though, the DNA found on the three pieces of gloves was a mixture of two individuals on two of the pieces and three individuals on the other piece. R. 513, l. 15 – 515, l. 4. Appellant was an avid hunter of wild boar and frequently hunted with Lee's brother-in-law. R. 628, l. 8 – 23. Wild boar carry diseases and Lee's brother-in-law testified he and appellant frequently shared blue latex gloves when hunting. R. 630, l. 6 – 631, l. 14.

The police informed appellant about Lee's death at his workplace and appellant immediately began crying. R. 324, l. 1 – 325, l. 20. Appellant cooperated with the police and answered all of their questions on that day, volunteering more information than they asked. R. 325, l. 10 – 342, l. 5. He was willing to allow the officers to download all information from his cell phone. R. 342, l. 4 – 5. Appellant worked the day Lee was killed, went home and took pain medication for his feet, then went to sleep. R. 328, l. 15 – 25. The SLED agent noticed appellant limping. R. 329, l. 1 – 5. The police tracked appellant's cell phones and the GPS in his work van and could not show that appellant left Greenville County the night of the murder. R. 776, l. 23 – 777, l. 4.

Lee and appellant divorced partially because of her relationship with a personal trainer. R. 331, l. 21 – 337, l. 13. By the time of the trial, the trainer had moved back to Scotland. R. 725, l. 18 – 19. The trainer admitted sleeping with Lee, but claimed, despite a prior statement to the contrary, that they only slept together after she had split from appellant. R. 730, l. 20 – 732, l. 23. The trainer's DNA was found on Lee's shoes and Fitbit. R. 542, l. 15 – 547, l. 19. Lee was selling her house and a realtor showed the property the morning of the murder. R. 275, l. 10 – 17. Text messages found on Lee's phone indicated she was communicating with strangers about selling items on the internet. R. 216, l. 20 – 219, l. 11.

During the trial, the court heard appellant's motion to suppress electronic information obtained by the State from Facebook, USAA Bank, Google, Verizon, Hulu, and Fitbit. R. 392, l. 12 – 417, l. 21. The State obtained search warrants for these out-of-state entities from judges in Greenville County. R. 392, l. 12 – 417, l. 21. R. 978. Appellant argued that any information gleaned from these entities should be suppressed because the judges did not have jurisdiction to issue warrants to companies in California, Texas, and New Jersey. R. 392, l. 12 – 417, l. 21.

The trial judge denied the motion to suppress and the State introduced evidence regarding appellant's phone records and Fitbit through their lead investigator and appellant renewed his objection. R. 814, l. 2 – 9. R. 829, l. 18 – 831, l. 13.

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress. South Carolina's statute governing search warrants requires that the issuing judge have "jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140. Judges in Greenville County do not have jurisdiction outside the state of South Carolina.

The State admitted that the "statute predates what we're talking about today," meaning cell phones and the internet. R. 397, l. 15 – 23. The solicitor said it was "only a matter of time before the courts interpret it to cover it or state statute is changed to deal with it." R. 397, l. 15 – 23. Admitting that the statute needed to be changed is tantamount to admitting that the plain language of section 17-13-140 prohibits judges without jurisdiction over the area of the property's location from issuing a search warrant.

The Legislature's intent and the interpretation of a statute should be determined by the words' plain and ordinary meaning. State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 366, 574 S.E.2d 203, 206 (Ct. App. 2002). The South Carolina Constitution's specific right of privacy favors a narrow interpretation of the power of the police to obtain highly personal data through search warrants from judges lacking jurisdiction. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 167, 776 S.E.2d 59, 67 (2015). The Fourth Amendment also recognizes and protects the privacy interest of citizens with respect to location data and cell phones. Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2217 (2018); Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373 (2014).

The State argued that the federal Stored Communications Act saved the defective search warrants. R. 392, l. 12 – 417, l. 21. The Stored Communications Act, on its face, does allow for

government entities to use search warrants to obtain electronic information. 18 U.S.C. § 2703. However, section 2703 requires that the police utilize “State warrant procedures.” Id. The procedures in South Carolina require that the issuing judge have jurisdiction and, as the solicitor recognized, the statute has not been amended to cover this circumstance. Therefore, any argument concerning the applicability of the federal statute fails.

The Supreme Court’s recent decision in State v. Warner, ___ S.C. ___, ___ S.E.2d ___, Op. No. 28094 (April 13, 2022), dealt with this issue. As of the writing of this brief, a petition for rehearing is pending in Warner. The petition for rehearing was filed on April 28, 2022, and the State’s return was filed May 9, 2022.

Warner was wrongly decided. The Court’s reading of section 17-13-140 has the perverse effect of giving magistrate judges greater jurisdiction than circuit judges. The Court interpreted the portion of section 17-13-140 stating “having jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located” applies only to “any judge of any court of record of the State.” See Warner, Op. No. 28094, at n.5. Applying this jurisdictional limitation to circuit court judges but not magistrate judges makes no sense and cannot be what the Legislature intended. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007).

“Courts will reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.” State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010). It is unfathomable that the General Assembly intended magistrates and city judges, who are not even required to be licensed to practice law in this State, to have greater authority in issuing search

warrants than circuit court judges. When the Supreme Court grants rehearing in Warner and corrects this portion of the opinion, the legal error in Lee's case will be plain.

The admission of this evidence was prejudicial in this completely circumstantial case. The lead investigator testified that she studied the Fitbit data and determined that appellant's Fitbit "registered every minute 24/7." R. 828, l. 25 – 829, l. 12. She testified that appellant's Fitbit generated data showing steps during the middle of most nights. R. 830, l. 19 – 833, l. 12. On the night of the murder, appellant's Fitbit did not register any steps from 6:10 PM until 6:03 AM. R. 832, l. 18 – 20. The investigator claimed to have surveillance footage showing appellant walking through parking lots near his apartment prior to 6:03 AM. R. 832, l. 21 – 833, l. 12. The implication given to the jury was that appellant removed his Fitbit in an attempt to conceal his movements the night of the murder. Without this prejudicial inference, the State likely could not have secured a conviction on the remaining circumstantial evidence and flimsy motive. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, appellant's convictions should be reversed and this case remanded for a new trial.