RECEIVED

Jul 25 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JASON DONN LEE,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001977

**AMENDED
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

S. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying Lee’s motion to suppress his Verizon Wireless cell phone records and his Fitbit records because (1) no search warrant was necessary to obtain the Fitbit records, (2) the issuing magistrate had jurisdiction to issue the warrants for all of the records under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (2022), and (3) the State obtained a separate search warrant issued by a circuit court judge pursuant to the Stored Communications Act for information on his cell phones.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying Lee’s motion to suppress his Verizon Wireless cell phone records and his Fitbit records²¹ because (1) no search warrant was necessary to obtain the Fitbit records, (2) the issuing magistrate had jurisdiction to issue the warrants for all of the records under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (2022), and (3) the State obtained a separate search warrant issued by a circuit court judge pursuant to the Stored Communications Act for information on Lee’s cell phones. Further, the officers acted in good faith, and any alleged error in denying Lee’s motion to suppress was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Events at trial.

²¹ The Court’s April 15, 2022 Order directed the parties to address the admissibility of “Lee’s electronic records.” Quite understandably, however, Lee has only argued the admissibility of the Verizon Wireless and Fitbit records in light of the third party doctrine. So, the admissibility of the remaining records is not before the Court. *See Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court”).

Before the State presented any evidence from Lee's various electronic devices, the trial judge heard Lee's motion to suppress electronic information obtained by the State from Facebook, USAA Bank (for information from Lee's joint account with the victim), Google, G-mail, Verizon Wireless, Hulu, and Fitbit. He argued that the State had obtained "a lot of [electronic] information" through search warrants issued by a Lexington County magistrate pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-13-40. However, he claimed that the warrants (*see R. 990-1016*) were invalid because the issuing magistrate did not have jurisdiction over these out-of-state companies. He also noted that these companies had various requirements for obtaining this information and argued that the warrants issued did not meet those varying requirements. He asserted "this is based on a statutory violation in addition to Article 1, Section 10 of the state constitution," which provides greater protection than the Fourth Amendment. He likewise relied on the Supreme Court's decision in *Carpenter v. . See R. 392, line 12 – 397, line 9.*

In response, the State observed that §17-13-40 "predate[d] technology and the statutes have not been changed yet ... but the intent of the legislature in creating those statutes was to be able to obtain information and obtain evidence and obtain records, so the intent of the legislature is clear on what they are authorizing. Either ... the legislature is going to have to change the statute to cover this situation or the courts are going to have to interpret it so that the current statute allows for it" *R. 398, line 17 – 399 line 3. See also R. p. 397, lines 15-23.* More specifically, the State noted that it intended to offer Verizon Wireless records from Lee's work phone, records from his personal phone, and records from the phone of State's witness Graham Hockley. All of these records were initially obtained pursuant to a warrant issued by a magistrate *R. 399, lines 6-15.*

With respect to both of Lee's phones, the State obtained "an additional search warrant" for

the records it intended to introduce under the Stored Communications Act (SCA),²² “which is 18 USC 2703.” The State introduced certified copies of those warrants (Court’s Exhibits 4 and 5), which were signed by Judge McLeod, the resident circuit court judge, and issued after a finding of probable cause. **R. 399, line 16 – 400, line 22; 978-89.**

Hockley’s records were obtained by a warrant issued by a magistrate under §17-13-40. Even if the trial judge found that this warrant was invalid, the State noted that Lee did not have standing to contest the warrant because the records were not his. Further, Hockley was present and could testify he consented to the State having his records. The State argued that the remaining records were admissible under the third party doctrine established in *United States v. Miller*, 425 U.S. 435, 443 (1976), and that *Carpenter* was concerned with the privacy rights of a person’s movement over the course of a thirty days without judicial supervision. Thus, it only carved out an exception to the third party doctrine for phones, and the Court in *Carpenter* expressly stated that the third party doctrine remained applicable in other contexts. The State also noted that both a warrant and a subpoena were issued for the Fitbit records. *See R. 400, line 24 – 407, line 1.*

In reply, Lee again argued that the State’s use of the warrant issued by the magistrate was invalid because the magistrate lacked jurisdiction over any of the companies in question. Also, the State had not sufficiently complied with the SCA. He extended his arguments to Hockley’s phone records, as well. **R. 407, line 7 – 411, line 14.**

The trial judge denied Lee’s motion to suppress. He found that the search warrants issued by Judge McLeod for Lee’s Verizon Wireless records fell under the SCA, § 2703(b). He further found that Lee did not have standing to suppress Hockley’s phone records, and that the third party

²² The SCA was enacted as Title II of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act and is found at 18 U.S.C. §§ 2701-2712.

doctrine applied to the bank records and Fitbit records. He also noted that the State had complied with Fitbit's requirement of a "a legal process or governmental request" by issuing the subpoena. As to the Google warrant, the State assured the judge that it did not intend to introduce evidence of what Lee searched for, only that he accessed the internet on specific dates. The trial judge found that this was not privacy protected" and that the third party doctrine applied. Finally, to the extent that he had not "embodied all of the points" argued by the State, he adopted them as part of his ruling. **R. 411, line 16 – 416, line 9.**

Hockley subsequently testified *in camera* that the State had his consent to obtain his cell phone records. **R. 752, lines 11-23.** Before the testimony of SLED Lt. Chris Johnson, the State observed that it had three exhibits to mark for Lt. Johnson's identification. The trial judge stated that "[t]he testimony regarding these phone records goes forward subject to objection made in a pre-trial hearing and subject to the rulings I made pre-trial." **R. 754, lines 3-12.** The State introduced evidence regarding Lee's phone records and his Fitbit information, as well as the lack of such information, through Inv. Van Houten and Lee unsuccessfully renewed his objection. *See R. 782, line 13 – 783, line 5; 814, lines 2 – 9; 829, line 18 – 831, line 13.*

B. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion.

1. Lee's Fitbit records did not require a search warrant.

Neither the Fourth Amendment nor S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 required a search warrant for Lee's Fitbit records because he did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the non-disclosure of the information that the company generates and keeps as a business record and which was based upon information that he voluntarily provided to the company by wearing the Fitbit device. Yet, as discussed in part 2, *infra*, the information was obtained pursuant to a valid search warrant issued by a Lexington County magistrate.

As the Deputy Solicitor correctly noted at trial, the *Carpenter* majority cautioned that

Our decision today is a narrow one. We do not express a view on matters not before us: real-time CSLI or ‘tower dumps’ (a download of information on all the devices that connected to a particular cell site during a particular interval). We do not disturb the application of *Smith* and *Miller* or call into question conventional surveillance techniques and tools, such as security cameras. Nor do we address other business records that might incidentally reveal location information.”

Carpenter, 138 S.Ct. at 2220.²³

The trial judge properly determined that the third party doctrine applied to Lee’s Fitbit records. After the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 351, 353, 361 (1967), “the touchstone of [Fourth] Amendment analysis has been whether a person has a ‘constitutionally protected reasonable expectation of privacy.’ ” *Oliver v. United States*, 466 U.S. at 170, 177 (1984) (citing *Katz*, 389 U.S. at 360 (Harlan, J., concurring)). Under the approach taken by Justice Harlan’s concurring opinion in *Katz*, a reviewing court must ask two questions: “The first is whether the individual, by his conduct, has ‘exhibited an actual (subjective) expectation of privacy,’ The second question is whether the individual’s subjective expectation of privacy is ‘one that society is prepared to recognize as ‘reasonable,’ ... —whether, in the words of the *Katz* majority, the individual’s expectation, viewed objectively, is ‘justifiable’ under the circumstances.” *Smith v. Maryland*, 442 U.S. 735, 740 (1979) (citations to *Katz* omitted).

Applying *Katz*, the Court in *Miller* rejected a Fourth Amendment challenge to a third-party subpoena for bank records. The Court explained that the bank’s records “are not respondent’s

²³ Even the *Carpenter* majority wrestled with how to apply this “new phenomenon” under the Fourth Amendment, *id.* at 2216 (noting that governmental acquisition of CSLI “does not fit neatly under existing precedents” and that cell-site records “implicate the third-party principle” because “the individual continuously reveals his location to his wireless carrier”); *id.* at 2214 (“[t]his sort of digital data—personal location information maintained by a third party—does not fit neatly under existing precedents.”). *But see id.* at 2236 (Kennedy, J., dissenting) (“The Court says its decision is a narrow one ... But its interpretation of *Miller* and *Smith* will have dramatic consequences for law enforcement, courts, and society as a whole”).

‘private papers.’” Instead, they are “the business records of the banks,” in which a customer “can assert neither ownership nor possession.” *Miller*, 425 U.S. at 440. The records “pertain to transactions to which the bank was itself a party.” *Id.* at 441. In rejecting the defendant’s challenge to the subpoena, the Court held “that the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit the obtaining of information revealed to a third party and conveyed by him to Government authorities, even if the information is revealed on the assumption that it will be used only for a limited purpose and the confidence placed in the third party will not be betrayed.” *Id.* at 443.²⁴

In *Smith*, the telephone company had installed a pen register, at the request of the police, to record the telephone numbers dialed from the petitioner’s telephone. In rejecting the petitioner’s challenge to the warrantless use of the pen register, the Court expressly distinguished collecting telephone numbers dialed from the listening device used in *Katz* to record “the *contents* of communications.” 442 U.S. at 741 (emphasis added). The Court held that telephone users generally had no subjective expectation of privacy in dialed telephone numbers. “[W]e doubt that people in general entertain any actual expectation of privacy in the numbers they dial. All telephone users realize that they must ‘convey’ phone numbers to the telephone company, since it is through telephone company switching equipment that their calls are completed.” *Id.* at 742.²⁵ Moreover, the Court held that any subjective expectation the petitioner may have harbored “is not one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable.” *Id.* at 743. (Internal quotation marks omitted).²⁶

²⁴ The Court found that the mandatory record-keeping requirement of the Act did not create a Fourth Amendment interest in bank records “where none existed before” because the records contained “only information voluntarily conveyed to the banks and exposed to their employees in the ordinary course of business.” *Id.* at 441-42.

²⁵ The Court expressly distinguished collecting the listening device used in *Katz*. As in *Smith*, the contents of the “communications” were not disclosed.

²⁶ The Court added that “[t]his Court consistently has held that a person has no legitimate expectation of privacy in information he voluntarily turns over to third parties,” and the Court held

The Supreme Court, itself, has applied the same principle to confidential statements made in the presence of an informant, *Hoffa v. United States*, 385 U.S. 293, 302 (1966), to financial and other records in the hands of third-party businesses, *SEC v. Jerry T. O'Brien, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 735, 743 (1984), and to electronic surveillance of conversations between a defendant and an informant, by means of radio transmitter concealed on the person of the informant. *United States v. White*, 401 U.S. 745, 752 (1971) (plurality opinion); *see also Donaldson v. United States*, 400 U.S. 517, 522-23 (1971) (holding taxpayer was not entitled to intervene in proceeding to enforce summons for his employment records, where “what is sought here by the Internal Revenue Service . . . is the production of Acme's records and not the records of the taxpayer”). *Cf. State v. King*, 412 S.C. 403, 419, 772 S.E.2d 189, 197 (Ct.App. 2015), *aff'd as modified*, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), *overruled on other grds, State v. Burdette*, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). Lower federal courts have applied this same principle in a variety of contexts, such as defendant’s ISP subscriber information and the IP addresses of websites, *see United States v. Bynum*, 604 F.3d 161 (4th Cir. 2010),²⁷ *Reporters Committee for Freedom of Press v. AT&T*, 593 F.2d 1030, 1043 (D.C. Cir. 1978) (subpoena for telephone records); *United States v. Forrester*, 512 F.3d 500, 510 (9th Cir. 2008) (email users have no reasonable expectation of privacy in to/from addresses of their messages or in IP addresses of websites visited).

Respondent submits that the third party doctrine of *Miller* and *Smith* applies to information generated by the user’s Fitbit, which does not track the user’s location. Lee does not address the applicability of the third party doctrine in his brief, even though this was a basis for the trial judge’s

that the user “voluntarily conveyed numerical information to the telephone company and ‘exposed’ that information to its equipment in the ordinary course of business.” *Id.* at 743-44.

²⁷ The “subscriber information” at issue in *Bynum* included the “physical address” of the defendant. *Id.*

denial of the suppression motion as to the Fitbit records. So, the trial judge’s denial of the motion to suppress the Fitbit records must be affirmed. *South Carolina Tax Comm’n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 170, 447 S.E.2d 843, 847 (1994) (an appellate court will affirm where an appellant fails to appeal the alternative ground of a trial court's ruling); *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993) (the failure to challenge an alternative ground for a holding constitutes abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal). Moreover, the State obtained the Fitbit records by using a valid search warrant and subpoena, as discussed in part 2.

2. The search warrants for Lee’s cell phone and Fitbit records were valid.

The United States Supreme Court held in *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 401 (2014), that a search warrant is generally required before a search for information on an accused’s cell phone can be conducted, “even when a cell phone is seized incident to arrest.” *See also id.* at 403 (“Our answer to the question of what police must do before searching a cell phone seized incident to an arrest is accordingly simple—get a warrant”). In *Carpenter*, a sharply divided majority of the Court held, for the first time, that a person has a legitimate expectation of privacy “in the record of his physical movements as captured through CSLI” even though the records are held by a third party, that “accessing seven days or more of CSLI constitutes a Fourth Amendment search,” and that, consequently, a request for seven or more days of CSLI requires the Government to have a warrant to obtain the information. *See Carpenter*, 138 S.Ct. at 2217 & n. 3.²⁸

The State fully complied with the warrant requirement for obtaining the information from Lee’s cell phones. First, it obtained search warrants for both the Verizon Wireless and Fitbit

²⁸ In *Carpenter*, the government obtained 127 days of historical cell site location data and used it to prove that Carpenter was present at the scenes of several bank robberies.

records from a Lexington County magistrate, and the magistrate had jurisdiction over both companies to do so, notwithstanding that these records were kept out-of-state.

In *Warner*, the South Carolina Supreme Court rejected the argument that an Anderson County magistrate lacked the authority to issue a search warrant to T-Mobile, an out-of-state entity, for records that were not physically located in this State. Although the Court “assume[d] for purposes of [its] analysis T-Mobile stores the applicable [cell site location information (CSLI)] records in New Jersey,” the Court reasoned that:

the important fact is T-Mobile clearly does business in South Carolina, in particular, in Anderson County. T-Mobile, therefore, is subject to the jurisdiction of an Anderson County magistrate. The warrant sought records reflecting information generated in South Carolina through the interaction of Warner’s cell phone and cell towers in Anderson County. While the T-Mobile office to which officers were told to send the warrant is located in New Jersey, section 17-13-140 specifically provides, “The property described in this section ... may be seized ... from the person, possession or control of any person who shall be found to have such property in his possession or under his control.” T-Mobile is in possession and control of property that section 17-13-140 permits to be seized. T-Mobile is a “person” doing business in Anderson County. Thus, T-Mobile is subject to the jurisdiction of our courts, and we find it was not beyond the power of the magistrate to issue the warrant.

Warner, 436 S.C. at ___, 872 S.E.2d at 642 (footnote omitted).

The Court quoted the following portions of § 17-13-140:

Any magistrate ... may issue a search warrant to search for and seize ... property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense The property described in this section, or any part thereof, may be seized from any place where such property may be located, or from the person, possession or control of any person who shall be found to have such property in his possession or under his control.

436 S.C. at ___, 872 S.E.2d at 641-42 (footnote omitted).

In finding that the limiting language in the statute did not apply to “[a]ny magistrate,” footnote 5 makes clear the Court applied two well-settled rules of statutory construction in reaching this conclusion. The first was the “last antecedent doctrine.” Second, the Court noted its

concern that “to read the limiting language as applying to all items in the series would contradict—and render superfluous—the language enabling the seizure of property within the ‘control of any person,’ because if all seizures are limited to property inside the jurisdiction of the individual judge, it would not have been necessary to alternately authorize the seizure of property under a person's control.” *Id.* at ___ n. 5, 872 S.E.2d at 641 n. 5.²⁹

Thus, the Lexington County magistrate in this case had jurisdiction to issue warrants to both Verizon Wireless and Fitbit, even though their records were not physically located in this State. Both companies were “persons” as that term is used in § 17-13-140. Lee maintains that *Warner* was wrongly decided. However, this Court is bound by the Supreme Court’s construction of § 17-13-140 in *Warner* because the South Carolina Constitution makes the Supreme Court “the final arbiter of South Carolina law.” *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Properties S.C., LLC*, 422 S.C. 211, 219 n. 4, 810 S.E.2d 856, 860 n. 4 (2018); *Santee River Cypress Lumber Co. v. Query*, 168 S.C. 112, ___, 167 S.E. 22, 26 (1932) (Bonham, J. dissenting).

Furthermore, Lee’s assertion lacks merit. The majority’s application of these rules is hardly unique or improper. “The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible.” *Bankers Trust of South Carolina v. Bruce*, 275 S.C. 35, 37, 267 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1980). “Courts will reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.” *State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010). Also, this Court “must read the statute so ‘that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous,’ for ‘[t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute]

²⁹ Although the Court in *Warner* affirmed the judgment, it remanded the case for further proceedings on the motion to suppress to determine whether the affidavit in support warrant was supported by probable cause. *Id.* at 643-44. The lack of probable cause is not an issue in this case.

to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law.’ ” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (citations omitted) (alterations in original); *State v. Heyward*, 432 S.C. 296, 317, 852 S.E.2d 452, 462 (Ct. App. 2020), *reh'g denied* (Jan. 15, 2021). *See also Commissioners of Pub. Works of the City of Laurens v. City of Fountain Inn*, 428 S.C. 209, 219-20, 833 S.E.2d 834, 839 (2019) (Few, J., concurring) (applying the “last antecedent doctrine” and citing ...” 82 C.J.S. *Statutes* § 443 (2009)); *Barnhart v. Thomas*, 540 U.S. 20, 26 (2003) (reversing because the Third Circuit’s statutory construction was “precisely contrary to” the last antecedent rule of statutory construction and explaining that although not an absolute, “construing a statute in accord with the rule is ‘quite sensible as a matter of grammar’ ”). Also, the Court in *Warner* correctly noted that a contrary interpretation would render superfluous “the language enabling the seizure of property within the ‘control of any person,’ ” which is contrary to the above-stated basic rules of statutory construction and the obvious intent of the General Assembly in enacting the statute.

Lee’s attack on the *Warner*’s construction of § 17-13-140 is based on the erroneous contention that the Court has given county magistrates broader jurisdiction to issue search warrants than circuit court judges. This argument is not properly before this Court because it was not raised at trial. *See* Rule 210(h), SCACR (stating an appellate court need not consider any fact which does not appear in the record); *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 51, 406 S.E.2d 315, 319 (1991) (abolishing *in favorem vitae* review and holding a contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review); *see also State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court

will not be considered on appeal. A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal”); *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994)).

More importantly, his argument is premised on a fundamental misunderstanding of the circuit court’s jurisdiction. S.C Const. art. V, § 4 states that “[t]he Circuit Court shall be a general trial court with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts, and shall have such appellate jurisdiction as provided by law.” As a result, the jurisdiction of circuit court judges is not limited by county. Instead, their jurisdiction is statewide. See *Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 235, 238, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994). (There is but one Circuit Court in South Carolina, with uniform subject matter jurisdiction ‘throughout the State’) (quoting *State ex rel. Riley v. Martin*, 274 S.C. 106, 111, 262 S.E.2d 404, 406 (1980)). So, *Warner*’s construction of § 17-13-140 does not limit or otherwise adversely impact the jurisdiction of circuit court judges to issue search warrants or grant greater power to magistrates to issue search warrants than circuit court judges.

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